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            INTRODUCTION

         

         This is book is an historical narrative, based on one explosive and hitherto untold secret of the Great War. The basic facts are true.

         After a battlefield tour to the Western Front in 2002, one of the travellers sent a CD as a souvenir to the guide. This historical treasure trove contained downloaded details of his great uncle’s Royal Flying Corps log book and photographs of his service with 25 Squadron. Included among the effects of Lt A.R.Watts MC, RFC, with the breathtaking claim that he had taken part in a secret British mission to kill the Kaiser.

         This extraordinary secret was confirmed by further research at the RAF museum and the RAF Historical Branch. The startling, but never before revealed, story was true. On 2nd June 1918, at the height of the final German attack of WW1, the newly formed RAF tried to assassinate the Kaiser when he was visiting the Western Front.

         The facts are borne out in never-before-published notebooks, maps and pilots’ flying records, kept secret for a century. Copies of these records are in the author’s possession and are backed up by details tucked away in 25 Squadron’s records. But the facts of this secret attack raise many new and disturbing questions.

         Exactly who ordered an attack to kill the Kaiser? Was it sanctioned by Sir Douglas Haig? By the War Office? Was the King informed? Was Lloyd George, the Prime Minister asked? All very unlikely. The Official History makes no mention of any attack, and public records say nothing. Even the RAF Museum has no official record: but the attack really did take place, of that there is no doubt. 25 Squadron’s documents and log books prove it. So someone did give an order to kill the Kaiser.

         But who?
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               French Intelligence map showing Château Trélon and the Kaiser’s Train siding.
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               The Warlords: Hindenburg and Ludendorff, Germany’s real rulers, 1918.
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               25 Squadron RAF flying times, early 1918.
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               25 Squadron 1918; DH4 light bomber and crew.
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               Captain Archie Watts 25 Squadron, RAF 1918.
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               The ‘smoking gun:’ a page from a 25 Squadron pilot’s log book, 2 June 1918.

               (RAF Museum, Hendon)
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               The Target (1): Kaiser Wilhelm II, Germany’s Emperor.
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               The Target (2): Château Trélon at Hirson.

               (Author’s collection)

            

         

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER 1

            25 SQN

            The Western Front, January 1918

         

         Roberts had no idea that he was going to be killed quite so quickly.

         Considering his youth and inexperience, it all seemed monstrously unfair. After all, it was only his third real flight in France.

         Around him the world was a frozen, pale blue dome of icy January sky. Against this vivid backdrop, twenty other biplanes hung motionless, while his young brain slowly took in the sheer injustice of his imminent death.

         He could even see his killer quite clearly.

         It was a Pfalz, and it was very close. The distinctive ‘V’ struts were just like the recognition pictures on the walls of the squadron hut back at St Omer. The Pfalz was black, he noticed; the German pilot’s flying helmet was black, too. He could even see the man’s goggles glinting at him in the cold winter sun.

         He wondered if it would hurt – being shot. Would the bullets smash like a kick in rugger or burn like a hot iron? Odd, only last season he’d been kicked in the head playing for the school first fifteen. That had hurt.

         His pang of self-pity was overwhelmed by a sudden surge of guilt. In the back seat of his DH4, behind four feet of petrol tank and out of communication sat Cartwright, his observer and gunner.

         If he died, then poor old Jimmy Cartwright was dead too. As a team it was universally acknowledged that two seater crews lived and died together. Poor old Jimmy! It was his own, Robert’s, stupidity and slowness that was going to kill them both. Roberts’ young world, suspended six thousand feet above the Flanders plain, held its breath, frozen in time and space.

         The Pfalz fired.

         Flickering lights danced along the engine cowling and a steady bang, bang, bang over his shoulder told him that Cartwright was firing back. By his right eye, as bright and shiny as a new copper penny, a bullet suddenly appeared as if by magic in the wing strut, half-embedded in the freshly splintered wood. He wanted to move, to do something, but seemed to be as frozen as the world around him, a metal band clamped tight round his chest. Smoking bullet trails whipped between the wings. More bullets smacked into the canvas alongside him.

         Suddenly a black guillotine sliced across his vision, as a German aeroplane loomed like an oncoming cliff-face filling the windscreen. It was so close Roberts could see the soundless horror of the pilot’s mouth as they stared at each other, only feet apart. Flinching with panic, Roberts pulled the trigger of the forward-firing Vickers gun, and at the same time heaved back on the stick as hard as he could. The German disappeared below as fast as he’d appeared, leaving the DH4 rearing vertically in the air like a startled horse, spraying bullets all over the sky.

         It was an impossible manoeuvre. Somewhere beneath him, out of the corner of his eye the black Pfalz skidded past before the DH4 fell out of the air backwards, tail first, then kicking viciously into the dizzying chaos of an out of control nose-down spin.

         By the time the world had stopped whirling round they were three thousand feet lower, alone in an empty air. Below, lay a brown jumble of anonymous fields. Above, the lacquer blue of the winter sky was devoid of any sign of the twenty odd aircraft that had been tumbling in the air only seconds before. Roberts’ heart pounded under his ribs - his mouth was parched, dry. “Was that fear?” he wondered, as the aeroplane settled down.

         He took a deep breath and looked around. Nothing.

         The DH4 seemed all right. Behind him, Cartwright was hunched over his Lewis guns watching the sky behind. Far off in the distance he could see puffs of white smoke and the livid scar that marked the front line. He swung the DH4 gratefully westwards, and with a scared glance over his shoulder put the nose down and headed for home. At least they were still alive.

         He had met his first enemy and survived.

         
            * * *

         

         Serjeant Jack Doughty was a watcher.

         For nearly two years, since the spring of 1916, he had stood on various French fields, gazing at the eastern sky, hearing the canvas hangars flap behind him, trying to catch the first drone of the returning aeroplanes. He rarely heard them first. Usually the younger ground crew heard them long before him.

         Doughty put this down to the fact that the wind usually blew from the West and the Royal Flying Corps’ gaze was fixedly to the East, so the wind blew any sound towards Hunland. Other times he thought that the junior NCOs were younger, with sharper ears.

         It never occurred to him that he was half-deaf, his hearing dulled by the shell fire and guns of nearly two years of front-line infantry soldiering. St Doughty had been out since ’14 and had transferred to the Royal Flying Corps at the end of 1915.

         Sometimes the others joked about this, but never to his face. ‘Pop’ Doughty was a regular non-commissioned officer in the Notts and Derbys, The Sherwood Foresters, with pre-war ideas of how the Army worked. He was not a man to be trifled with. So the little huddle of four ground crew shivered in the January cold and stared out to the East, their breath steam in the sharp air. To left and right similar little groups stamped their feet to keep warm, making idle conversation. All gazed fixedly at the eastern sky.

         Somewhere out there were their aeroplanes.

         Holmes, the airframe rigger, heard them first. A taciturn Hampshire man, brought up in the country, he always heard them early. He nodded; as he did so, others shielded their eyes until Cooper the cockney lance corporal pointed. “There they are!” Sure enough, black specks could be seen far off to the East. Sjt Doughty said nothing, waiting to count the numbers. He had seen too many not return.

         Suddenly the ‘planes were roaring over the boundary hedge at the far end of the aerodrome, bucking and bouncing onto the frozen turf before rocking towards their little knots of groundcrew, engines bellowing. As each aircraft nosed up to its handlers, the propeller stopped and the ground staff surrounded their charges like grooms round a Grand National winner.

         Excited chatter drifted across the field. A cheerful pilot was doused in champagne, pouring off his brown leather helmet like a frothing waterfall. His observer laughed and grabbed the bottle to swig from it.

         No DH4 moved up to Sjt Doughty’s crew. Alone, of the twelve groups of groundcrew, they stood, forlorn, without a focus. The minutes ticked by. Aeroplanes were wheeled into hangers by chattering groundcrew and the brown-coated aircrew gathered in knots before drifting towards the grey wooden hut to report to Squadron HQ. A few glanced at Doughty’s team standing alone, not talking, motionless.

         As the field cleared, one of the aircrew walked across, breaking into the tight-faced séance staring east.

         “I say,” said the young pilot, embarrassed, returning Sjt Doughty’s stony-faced salute. “Look, we saw Mr. Roberts and Mr. Cartwright going down, in a spin. Pretty bad, actually, but no one saw them crash. They may have landed somewhere else, eh? They could be all right, what?” He seemed to be about to say something else, but nodded and walked off towards the huts.

         Cooper, broke the silence. “Bleedin’ marvellous! We freeze our whatsits off and what for? Nuffink!” He spat disgustedly on the ground.

         Doughty fixed him with a cold and slightly bloodshot eye. “Shut tha’ croaking, Corporal.” It was a tough, Derby voice, heavy with the authority of accustomed command. The ‘corporal’ hung in the air. “We’ll see the officers in, rain or shine. It’s wuss in’t trenches, lad, a lot wuss: so shoot it.”

         Cooper opened his mouth and then “shut it”.

         He had arrived four weeks before, one of the new breed of engine mechanics, conscripted in the spring of 1917 and selected for mechanic training by the fledgling Royal Flying Corps.

         At his recruiting interview, ever fly, Cooper had informed the Attesting Officer that he had worked in a garage in Bermondsey. This was a barefaced lie, designed to save a reluctant Cooper from the rigours of the Royal Fusiliers and the discomforts of the infantry in the trenches. He was banking that no-one was going to check up on him. He was right. However, by an irony of fate, in mechanic training, Albert Cooper had taken to the mysteries of the aero engine with surprising speed.

         He had explained his new-found enthusiasm to Holmes, the airframe rigger, his first evening in the wet canteen over bottles of Bass.

         “See, Holmsey, the way I look at it is, it stops me goin’ in them bleeding trenches an’ it gets me a job arter this is all over. A nice warm job in a garridge. We might as well get summink out of this war, eh?”

         Now Holmes was looking stolidly ahead, staring out into the distance. The seconds turned to minutes. Suddenly he pointed: “’Ere they come,” and a lone DH4 clattered low over the horizon to turn into the wind, black puffs of smoke blipping from its exhaust. “At bleedin’ last,” whined Cooper. “Abaht time, too.”

         “I’ll not tell thee again, lad,” Doughty said. “Shut it.”

         “All right, keep yer ‘air on.”

         The Serjeant’s head swivelled away from the khaki box kite bucketing across the grass towards them to eye the younger man with genuine surprise.

         “Serjeant. ‘All right, Serjeant’,” Doughty said, slowly and deliberately. “You call me Serjeant. Have you got that, Corporal Cooper?”

         Cooper, thin, pale, quick as a whippet, looked at the senior NCO’s brown cracked face, ruined by tropical sun, crevassed like a seventy-year old. The heavy brown moustache fanged down, the older man’s gaze unblinking.

         It reminded Cooper of his father, a tough London docker, with quick hands and a quicker temper. Suddenly he was nervous, frightened. “All right then, Serjeant.” The other mechanics had hinted that Pop Doughty’s authority came from his fists as much as from the three stripes on his arm. For the hundredth time he eyed the faded medal ribbons on Doughty’s tunic. “Bleedin’ regulars”, he thought. “All bull.” He said nothing.

         Doughty remained unmollified. “I’ll have no croaking, Corporal. Now go and see to that engine.” He looked at the East End boy unblinkingly, as the DH4 bumped heavily up to its waiting ground crew.

         The big propeller clattered to a halt. The four men crowded round and across the field relieved faces popped out of the squadron office, noting the latecomer’s arrival.

         Roberts levered himself up out of the front seat and stretched. Even though his mouth was dry and his knees weak with reaction, he knew he must behave like the other pilots. It was expected of an officer. “Ah, there you are, Sarn’t Doughty. One DH4 airframe, safely returned.” he drawled.

         “Well done, sir.” Doughty’s eyes took in the ragged bullet holes in the canvas. “Trouble?”

         “A bit,” admitted the young officer as he began to climb down, stiff and cold, from the wing. “But we saw them off, didn’t we Jimmy?” He addressed the remark to the observer’s cockpit, where his rear seater was still hunched over his twin Lewis guns. Cartwright grunted.

         Doughty looked hard at the observer. “Making the guns safe, sir?”

         Cartwright grunted again. This time the noise was more of a gurgle, like a man being sick.

         Doughty swung up onto the side of the fuselage. “You all right, Mr. Cartwright?”

         Again the observer gurgled, head down over his guns. Doughty noticed the guns were still armed, the observer’s fingers hooked hard onto the firing levers. “Mr. Cartwright?” repeated Doughty. He touched the leather clad form.

         The observer screamed, a high seagull wail that choked off in a gurgle.

         The bustle of aircrew round the DH4 froze. Willing arms helped the brown clad form of Jimmy Cartwright out of the rear cockpit and laid him on the icy grass. The face was chalk white, the lips reddened with blood where he had bitten them to stop screaming in pain. The eyes were screwed tight shut.

         Gently, they eased off the leather helmet. Roberts bent over his partner, rubbing Cartwright’s hands and pleading with the white silent face.

         Doughty addressed himself to Cope, the armourer, “Make sure those guns are made safe, lad. Then run and get the MO. Quickly, now.”

         “Yes, Sarn’t.” With a frightened glance at the recumbent form, Cope scuttled off.

         “What’s up, Jimmy?” pleaded Roberts, desperate and anxious. “Are you hit? What?” No reply came from the white face, although the mouth worked.

         “Let’s get his suit open and take a look shall we, sir?” Doughty began to pull back the brown leather flying coat. “Corporal Cooper, get that suit open. Let’s have a look at the officer.”

         Cooper knelt by the body. The observer began to breathe noisily, panting gasps that ended in little choking noises. His eyes opened wide, then closed tight. Cooper’s nose wrinkled as he pulled open the leather coat.

         “’E’s shit ‘imself, Serjeant, that’s wot. ‘E stinks!”

         “There’s no wound,” said Roberts. “Jimmy, are you hurt? I can’t see a wound.” Cooper rolled his eyes sardonically, then flinched from the Serjeant’s hostile glare. The last flap of the fur-lined Sidcot flying suit flopped open.

         As it did, Cartwright’s intestines burst out, spilling shiny and purple. Blood welled out, trickling and dripping steadily onto the frozen turf. A foul stench steamed up in the frosty air.

         “Oh, shit!” exclaimed Cooper, pulling back in disgust as the smell hit them.

         Roberts stared uncomprehendingly at the horror.

         The skin on his observer’s belly was peeled back, purple loops of bowel and gut slithering slowly onto the ground. A bullet had sliced across the lower stomach, slitting it open as cleanly as any butcher’s knife. Cartwright started to wail and clutched the gaping void that had been his belly. His fingers clawed into the mess and came away scarlet. He wailed again, a high-pitched keening.

         Roberts reared up and staggered away from the group. He was no stranger to death, having been to the funerals of two of his friends, both killed in crashes during flying training. But this was the first time the boy had seen the butcher’s-shop reality of soldiering close up. He bent over and vomited helplessly onto the frozen turf. Men running across the grass towards them skidded round the heaving shoulders of the young pilot. Doughty held the observer’s bloodied hands to prevent further damage.

         “Get the doctor! Get the fucking doctor! Now!” he bellowed. The parade ground voice echoed off the huts a hundred yards away. “Now!”

         Suddenly all was movement. A frenzied struggle between Cartwright’s bloodied hands flailing in the air, while Doughty and a chalk-faced Roberts fought desperately to stop the wounded observer doing any more damage to the ruin that had been his belly.

         Corporal Cooper recoiled, eyes wide in horror. Holmes sprinted towards the huts, shouting “Stretcher bearers!” Men came running towards them, one clutching a doctor’s bag.

         Cartwright’s shrill scream cut the air. “Mummy!” A series of wails tailed off as he started to cry. A thread of bright red blood dribbled from his mouth and he started to pant like a woman in labour.

         The Squadron Medical Officer knelt by him, panting from the run. At the sight of the wound he too pulled back, nose wrinkling. Roberts looked across at the doctor, lips forming a question. Acting Captain Joshua Moon, US Army Medical Corps, one of the many US doctors seconded to British units to gain experience since America had entered the war the previous autumn, shook his head. In the two months since the young American had been with the British, this was the worst he’d seen – and still living, too. The boy was disembowelled.

         He spoke to the crunched up face. “Hey, Jimmy. How’re you doin’?” The Alabama voice was soft, gentle. “C’mon boy, speak to me. How’re you doin’?”

         Slowly, the dying observer’s eyes fluttered open. First they seemed to stare at the sky, an infinity above them, then slowly focussed on the little group bending over him. He started to cry. Tears trickled down his face. “It hurts,” he said, matter of factly. He recognised the doctor. “Hello, doc. Help me,” he pleaded. “Please help me.”

         The doctor scrabbled in his bag and put two grey tablets under the bloody tongue. “They’ll take the pain away, Jimmy.” He plunged back into the leather bag and began to fill a glass hypodermic.

         Halfway through he stopped and looked down at the crucified figure of the weeping boy, bowels spilling out onto the ground, arms held firmly by Sgt Doughty and Lt. Roberts. They looked up at his hesitation, puzzled by the delay.

         The American doctor’s jaw closed and he continued to draw deeper into the syringe. For a long moment, he looked down at the young man on the ground. Then he pushed the needle firmly down into the shoulder between throat and collarbone. Roberts looked across at him, questioning. Doughty held the observer’s arms and stared down fixedly at the wounded man’s face, avoiding the doctor’s eye. He’d seen this before. The syringe came out. Doc Moon mechanically wiped away the tiny smear of blood.

         For a long minute the little group looked down at the wounded man. Slowly the observer’s face cleared and the eyes opened, taking in the anxious faces bent over him. He smiled weakly. “Hello, Doc. That feels better. Am I going to be all right?”

         “Yes. I guess it does, Jimmy. You’re gonna be fine now. No more pain. Now you rest awhile. Go to sleep. You jes’ rest quiet, now”. Moon’s voice was tired and compassionate.

         “Thanks doc…” The observer’s eyes fluttered, unfocussed, one last time. Looking deep into some unfathomable space far above them he said very quietly, “I can see everything. But it’s very dark.” The voice was calm and slightly puzzled. “Not night. No, sleepy dark.” Suddenly the eyes opened wide in astonishment as if seeing some vision. “Got to sleep; see Mama…” he breathed softly, and sighed. Then his eyes frosted blank forever.

         So, Second Lieutenant James Antony Cartwright, Royal Flying Corps, just twenty years old at Christmas, died on the frozen grass of a French airfield, victim of a fatal abdominal wound and a massive overdose of morphine.

         Moon and Roberts stood up. The doctor avoided eye contact as he packed his bag. Sjt Doughty pulled the leather coat over the ruined stomach and gestured to the waiting stretcher-bearers.

         “Coom on, lads. Get ‘im out of ’ere. Gently mind,” he added.

         Roberts leant against the side of the DH4. Absently his finger traced a bullet hole in the fuselage, behind the observer’s cockpit. His shoulders began to heave and suddenly he was crying, shock and the awfulness of it all stripping away the 20-year-old’s veneer of control. Just eighteen months before he had still been a schoolboy, only too impatient to join the heroic fliers of the RFC and get to the war.

         “C’mon Robbie,” said the doctor, patting his shoulder. “There’s nothing anyone of us could do. C’mon, boy. Let’s you and me go and have a drink. I guess you need it.”

         Roberts rounded on him accusingly. “You! You! You …!” He stopped, gasping. “You did, didn’t you? You…finished him?”

         Moon looked at the boy and nodded. “Sure I did, Robbie. Jimmy was my friend; yours too. I did what was right. You know I did. You saw him. You wanted him to suffer? I wouldn’t put my dawg through that, boy and I’m darned if I’ll see a friend and a good man suffer. I’d do the same for you, you damned idiot. Now come on, let’s go and have a drink. It’s cold. There’s nothing to do here.”

         Roberts looked at the group. Two bearers were loading the body onto a stretcher. The lifeless hands kept flopping sideways, despite Cope the armourer’s attempts to keep them on the stretcher. Sjt Doughty was checking the observer’s flight bag. Holmes was buttoning the leather coat over the white skin of the dead man’s body. Cooper stood apart, mouth open, shaking his head in disgust. Roberts nodded slowly to his groundcrew and allowed himself to be led away, shoulders heaving, towards the waiting knot of pilots by the huts. All that was left of Jimmy Cartwight’s Calvary was a smear of dark blood on the grass.

         Suddenly, only the four ground crew were left by the aeroplane.

         Cooper’s London whine broke the silence. “Well, I never thought I’d see a bleedin’ officer behave like that. Bein’ sick like that. Crying like a fuckin’ girl.”

         Sjt Doughty looked at the sneering face.

         Officers. From somewhere deep down in the vaults of his memory, an old vision of Lieutenant Oldfield screaming in the mud of Ypres one autumn afternoon in 1914 floated into his mind.

         The Notts and Derbys had been desperately trying to stem wave after wave of German attacks. A shell had blown off both Mr. Oldfield’s legs. From the thighs down he had looked like raw dog meat splattered on the earth. Mr. Oldfield had looked at where his legs should have been and screamed. He had gone on screaming for over a minute until he died.

         Then Doughty remembered Tommy Hallam from Chesterfield croaking in a stinking shellhole in February of 1915 near Neuve Chappelle. Tommy Hallam had been in India with him. First Battalion men. They’d made corporal together, pulled in the winning tug of war team at the Battalion sports and got drunk together. He knew his missus. But then Tommy had been dying; half his lungs torn out by a shell splinter, shiny bright red blood and splintered white bones showing.

         “For Christ’s sake, Jack. Shoot me! Shoot me!” he had shrieked, bubbles of bright blood swelling and spattering from his lips. The pain-crazed eyes had shrieked from the red smeared face. Then Jack Doughty had crashed the brass bound butt of his Lee Enfield rifle down on his old chum’s head to stop the screams, crunching again and again until the pleading stopped and poor Tommy Hallam was just another lifeless bundle of rags in the rain soaked mud, clawed fingers still twitching in death.

         The memories stirred deep in Doughty’s mind and his eyes took in Corporal Cooper, thin, whining, moaning about dying officers; disembowelled too. Nasty way to go.

         What did this scrawny six-month apology for a soldier, let alone a noncommissioned officer, know of real soldiering, of the war? Whining little bastard. Knew nowt. Never heard the dull whap! of a bullet hitting flesh. Never seen a shell burst, never seen a friend dying in agony? Knew bugger all. Moaning little bastard. All Doughty’s own fears, his frustrations and the loss of what he genuinely thought of as another of ‘his officers’ surged in his mind as he stared at Cooper’s pale, ferrety face.

         So Jack Doughty hit him.

         It was a hard controlled upward blow, the experienced punch of a deputy from Chesterfield pit, not meant to leave a mark on his man but smashing into the Cockney corporal’s solar plexus, driving every ounce of wind out of his lungs. Cooper collapsed, choking for air, eyes bulging with disbelief.

         “I’ll not tell thee again, Corporal,” said Sjt Doughty calmly. “I’ll have no disrespect on my crew. When tha’s soldiered a bit then tha’ can say summat. Till then – shoot it!” The Derbyshire accent was strong.

         Cooper had fallen to his knees, mouth working soundlessly, like a landed fish on a riverbank, gasping for air.

         Sjt Doughty turned to Holmes and Cope, impassive, silent observers of the drama. “C’mon then, lads. Let’s put this bird away in the hangar.”

         As an afterthought he added, “You too, Corporal Cooper. I’ll have no scrimshanking on my crew.”

         Slowly, the three men pushed the DH4 back into the flapping canvas hangar.

         From the squadron commander’s hut the Adjutant looked out and wondered why Corporal Cooper appeared to be having difficulties pushing the wing.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER 2

            OHL, GERMAN HIGH COMMAND, WESTERN FRONT

            Winter 1917-18

         

         During that bitter winter of 1917/18, the Western Front in France and Flanders was a mass of movement. The normally quiet period, when snow and ice made just keeping warm the most important battle of all, was that year a time of frantic activity on both sides. Either side of the ‘murdered strip of nature’ that was no-man’s land, the fighting troops prepared for the storms to come.

         Instead of huddling in their dugouts, the British, in particular, were busy digging new defensive trenches, staking out barbed wire and patrolling every night to find out exactly what the Germans were up to.

         For their part, the Germans generally kept an ominous quiet. But, on cold clear nights, the British could hear them. In the South, along the old Somme battlefield, frozen sentries, cursing the cold and stamping their boots to stay warm, heard the rumble of distant gun wheels moving behind the German lines. Sometimes they heard the unmistakable clink of spade on stone as the hitherto comfortably ensconced Germans dug mysterious new earthworks just behind their front.

         The man responsible for this disruption of the conventions of normal winter soldiering had taken the decision long before the turn of the year, long before the snow and ice had arrived. In a meeting, just over the Belgian border at Mons, on 11th November 1917, a group of senior German staff officers had gathered round a table.

         The irony of their meeting place and its date would only become clear exactly one year later. But, that November, their leader had leaned over a map of the Western Front and determined the fate of millions of men. Bull necked, heavily moustached, and crop haired, the carmine stripes of a full general on the Great German General Staff betrayed his trade.

         Germany’s warlord, First QuarterMaster General Erich von Ludendorff, began to speak.

         “Gentlemen, the assessment of Germany’s military position is, for the first time in three years, firmly in our favour. The English and French are tired and weak. They are praying for the Americans to arrive, to arrive and save them. That will take another year. The forces in the West are therefore in balance.”

         The gruff low voice went on, “But in the East the war is over. Russia is finished. The Revolution of the Reds has finally brought their government down. Thanks to the Bolsheviks, the Russian Army is no longer a fighting force. I tell you, we could march on Moscow tomorrow should we wish. Between our 5th Army and Saint Petersburg, the only Russian soldiers we can see are heading east as fast as they can run, and throwing away their rifles as they go. Their government has collapsed. Trotsky and his Bolshevist scum are already begging Berlin for peace. Gentlemen, the war in the East is over. Germany has triumphed. In the East, we are victorious!”

         He looked at his rapt audience.

         “We therefore have an opportunity. An unbelievable chance. For the first time since 1914 we can end this struggle in Germany’s favour. Oberstleutnant Hentsch’s intelligence section estimates 60 English divisions and 105 French divisions oppose us in the West. As you know, we ourselves already have 150 divisions facing them.”

         “But – but - if we transfer our armies from the East, Operations assure me that by 1st of March next year, we will have at least another 40 divisions in France: maybe more. We will then outnumber the combined French and British. This, Gentlemen, gives us our historic opportunity. It also at last gives us a chance for total victory!” He smashed a clenched fist down on the map.

         A rumble of approval greeted these last words.

         The chief operational planners of the German Army in France and Flanders knew, or had deduced, these facts as well as their master. But they also knew that time was running out for Germany. The casualties of Verdun, the Somme and Passchendaele had bled the Army dry over the past two years. Half-trained youths and surly conscripted civilians now filled the ranks of what had once been the finest professional army in the world.

         Worse, they knew that in one vital respect the war was nearly lost already. The ‘materialschlacht’, the logistics war, was ripping the guts out of the army. The British blockade was strangling the Fatherland. Supplies were drying up. Food was scarce and when it arrived, of dreadful quality. There was no more rubber for tyres. Even bandages for the wounded were being made of crepe paper. Only ammunition and weaponry were in full supply, as Germany’s faltering economy struggled to fight a war on two fronts with a starving civilian population and waves of strikes and food riots sweeping the big cities. Everyone knew that the social unrest at home was building into a national crisis.

         Even the civilian politicians in Berlin no longer supported the war. Socialist deputies in the Reichstag openly demanded an end to the fighting. For the Imperial General Staff, and for the old Germany, time was fast running out.

         Ludendorff eyed his staff. He knew what they were thinking, from the too-clever-by-half Hentsch of Intelligence, to the stolid von Tzschirner of Logistics: was there still time?

         “Gentlemen,” he went on, this time pounding the table gently with his palm to emphasise his words, “There is still time. But we cannot afford any delay.”

         He paused for effect.

         “I have therefore made an historic decision. For the first time since 1914 we can outnumber our enemies in the west. We have developed new tactics. We have developed new artillery techniques and the guns and ammunition to make them work. We are assembling a new Army: an army of elite Jäger and Stormtroops; an army trained to infiltrate and get through the thickest defensive line.”

         He stared at the staff officers, now hanging onto their chief ’s words.

         “Gentlemen, our hour has come. The enemy now is England. France cannot fight on without her strong right arm. Look at the French armies. They are sullen. Some divisions we know are in a state of near collapse. Every day we hear more evidence of their weakness. We even hear rumours of mutinies. Mutinies! I tell you, without England, France is finished.”

         He raised his voice.

         “Our target, therefore, must be England. The Navy and the U Boats have failed to bring the British to their knees. They are hungry but stubborn. It is therefore up to us, the Army, to finish this war. So now we go on the offensive in the West! In the spring, when the weather is good, we will attack and drive the verdammter Tommies into the sea, where they belong! And then the war is won! We will attack with the greatest offensive the world has ever seen: then full victory shall be ours! This war will be won! Deutschland, unser Vaterland, will triumph!”

         A low growl of approval greeted his rhetoric. Ludendorff stared at them, satisfied with the result of his little speech.

         “Well, Gentlemen?” he asked. “Comments? Questions?”

         The rigid conventions of the Great German General Staff now demanded that the logic and appreciation of the situation, even of the most senior officer, must be put to his staff experts for comment. And approval.

         Von Zelle the HQ Coordination Colonel was the first to speak, clicking his heels. “Jawohl, Herr General. What of the FeldMarschall?”

         Ludendorff nodded. A notable absentee from the gathering at Mons was Field Marshal Paul von Hindenburg, officially head of the German armies, and ostensibly Ludendorff’s boss. Hentsch of Intelligence eyed von Zelle, wondering from Ludendorff’s staged reaction if the question was a planted one.

         “Ja, the Field Marshal,” replied Ludendorff.

         He dropped his chin. The jowls bulged in rolls of fat above the standup uniform collar. “You will be glad to know that this attack decision has the full approval of the highest military command in the land. The FeldMarschall is delighted that our armies are to attack at last. He is as confident of victory as I am!”

         “I’ll bet,” thought Hentsch, the Chief of the Intelligence Bureau. It was an open secret that tensions were emerging between the Chief of Staff of the German Army and his deputy, the ‘First Quartermaster General’, whatever that rank was supposed to mean.

         Some said that Ludendorff had even invented the title deliberately to place himself as Hindenburg’s equal when the victors of the Battle of Tannenburg had been promoted eighteen months before as the team to run Germany’s war effort. Rumour said that Hindenburg and Ludendorff now ran everything else in the Fatherland as well, with the Chancellor and politicians in Berlin coming begging, asking to be told what to do next, and following their bidding like obedient puppies.

         Hentsch clicked his heels.

         Ludendorff scowled. The head of the Intelligence Branch was not popular with the general staff, particularly Ludendorff’s favoured protégés in Operations. Hentsch had been the bearer of much bad news in the autumn of 1917. The fact that he had been right only made it worse.

         “What of the All Highest, Herr General?” he enquired politely.

         “Ah, yes, Hentsch, the Kaiser.” Ludendorff switched his gaze to the rest of the Staff. “What a good question …” He nodded for effect, pursing his lips.

         “Gentlemen, you will be delighted to know that the Kaiser himself has approved our great attack in the spring. His Serene Majesty himself has welcomed the triumph of Germany’s arms. You will be able to tell your children that you took part in the planning of the greatest battle the world has ever known. You will be able to say that you planned the “Kaiserschlacht”. For the Kaiser has even suggested to me that the offensive should go forward under his own name!”

         A buzz of approval swept round the table. The assembled staff nodded, exchanged looks and smiled. ‘The Kaiser’s Battle!’ Surely this time they must be successful. Victory at last. Gott sei Dank.

         “And now, Gentlemen,” said Ludendorff, raising his voice above the noise. “To work. There is much to be done and little time. We have over 100 divisions to move and to train for battle before the spring. Railway Section?”

         The head of the General Staff Railway Movement Planning Section stepped up to the map table to explain the implications of the great task ahead. For the moment, any doubts and uncertainties of the Great German General Staff would be submerged and sedated by the familiar narcotic of hard work and military planning.

      

   


   
      
         

            CHAPTER 3

            The British Expeditionary Force

            GENERAL HEADQUARTERS, GENERAL STAFF INTELLIGENCE BRANCH, FRANCE

            January 1918

         

         Second Lieutenant Roberts of the Royal Flying Corps knew nothing of Ludendorff’s momentous conference at Mons.

         What he did know was the impact on his own life of the German decision made two months before. It was killing his friends. Every day in that icy winter of early 1918, whenever the weather permitted, 25 Squadron’s DH4s flew off to the East to see what was going on, or to try and bomb any target of value. And every day German scouts tried to stop them. The combination of German fighters and the accidents caused by the winter weather emptied seats around the St Omer mess table.

         As Robbie sprawled near the mess stove, listening to the after dinner chatter of his fellow airmen he realised that he had already lost three chums in the short time he had been with the squadron. He felt a pang of self-pity, a memory of some long forgotten misery. It reminded him of his first term at boarding school. He looked around the crowded, dimly hit mess hut, and felt again the same memory of homesickness, the cold, and the fear of not doing the right thing in front of others. “Be a brave boy”, his mother had said, sniffing. “You’ll be all right my boy,” his father had said, rather gruffly and pushed five shillings into the eight-year-old’s hand. Five whole shillings! But then a successful Kent doctor could easily afford five shillings.

         Now, in a wave of dejection, he realised he might just as well be back in a strange new school. Major Duffus the CO had seemed cool and remote since his interview on arrival. The other pilots all knew each other. They all seemed so confident and noisy and rowdy. He didn’t know half of them. And Jimmy, his only real chum had gone west. On his, Roberts, first operational mission. He wondered if the old hands were laughing at him behind his back, secretly despising his weakness for breaking down when Jimmy died. He didn’t know. He was always cold. A wave of misery swept over him.

         “Do you know, I’ve never known a month like this,” said Smith, the Squadron Intelligence Officer.

         Outside, the wind shrieked from the East and flurries of wet snow blattered against the wooden mess hut. The assembled young aircrew, huddled in sagging armchairs round the stove, looked up at him. Smithy, wheezing from terrible chest wounds sustained in Loos in 1915, and which would eventually kill him in 1920, went on, “Well, I remember last April. I mean, we lost a lot of good chaps, but then we were covering the show at Arras. You expect to lose chaps in an attack. But this …” he gestured hopelessly with this glass at the two empty seats.

         “It was an accident, Smithy,” said one of the younger pilots.

         “Yes, I know. But why? Why are we flying in conditions like this? It’s stupid. That’s two good crews gone west since Christmas. Not shot down by the Huns, mind: all silly accidents caused by bad weather flying. It ain’t right.”

         “But it’s the big push, Smithy. Everyone knows that the Jerries are going to attack. That’s why we’ve got to fly.”

         Another voice chimed in, “And I hate to tell you, Smithy, but it’s your bally photographs we’re risking over necks to get!”

         A laugh greeted this. Temporary Captain E. S. Smith drew hard on his cigarette and coughed pitifully.

         The door of the hut burst open, and for a second the wind whipped round the hut. A puff of smoke belched from the stove. A cry of ‘SHUT THE DOOR!’ faded as thirty anxious faces turned to the newcomer. Tall, cadaverous, with a black eye patch, leaning heavily on a blackthorn stick, the Squadron Adjutant advanced into the yellow puddle of lamplight and looked down at a purple duplicated sheet of foolscap in his black-gloved hand.

         “Right, gentlemen,” he spoke in a dry measured tone. “The Squadron will be flying patrols at dawn tomorrow – weather permitting.”

         A groan greeted this announcement.

         “‘A’ Flight: you’re stood down. B Flight: Arty Observation, take off first light. Patrol towards Hazebrouck, details in the morning. C Flight: ready for take off as ordered from nine ack emma onwards.”

         The single beady eye swept round the room. The fire-ravaged face of Captain Peter Coachman, late the 60th Rifles, leaned heavily on his stick. In the lamplight the livid scars gleamed red and white. “Now, my advice to you chaps is to get some sleep. Duty flight commanders come with me please.”

         And with that 25 Squadron’s Adjutant and operations officer limped off to the far end of the hut.

         The warm, cosy spell was broken. The knot of aircrew that had been slumped round the stove or against the walls, rose, stretched, exchanged good nights and scattered, the hut door banging in the wind. Only the dozen or so of ‘A’ Flight stayed behind. Someone called for another whisky. Chairs were moved closer to the warmth of the stove. Not for ‘A’ Flight the sleepless night, the call in the blackness before dawn, the stewed tea, the bleary-eyed breakfast of greasy eggs and bacon eaten in a dark and silent mess hut, and then the lumbering walk in the frozen sunrise out to the waiting aeroplanes, with their chilled and anxious ground crews.

         “Well, rather them than us,” said Jack Armstrong, ‘A’ Flight’s commander, a pale, dark-eyed veteran of twenty-two.

         “Probably won’t fly with this wind,” said the whisky drinker.

         “Lucky beggars.”

         “I wish we’d had weather like this yesterday morning.”

         “Why?”

         “Then we’d not have had to fly yesterday – and Bunny and Slugs would still be here.”

         “That’s rot,” cut in Armstrong. He threw a cigarette savagely into the stove and replaced the metal lid with a bang. He ran a hand over his brilliantined black hair.

         “It’s just luck. It could happen to any of us, at any time. Anyway,” he added, “We don’t want anyone in this flight talking like that. Miserable stuff. Don’t help anyone, what?”

         ‘A’ Flight absorbed their commander’s rebuke.

         “Anyway,” said Armstrong, “We’re off tomorrow. Have we got the envelopes?”

         Tradition in 25 Squadron demanded that every newly arrived pilot or observer placed a £5 note in an envelope which was then pinned to the Officers’ Mess notice board. A dozen eyes scanned the forest of labelled envelopes by the door.

         “No,” said the whisky drinker, “They’re still there. I’ll get them”

         He rose and unpinned the two envelopes, bringing them to Armstrong.

         “Drinks,” he said sharply, and A Flight rose to their feet. Armstrong clawed open the first envelope, drawing out a crumpled and rather grubby five-pound note. With it was a note scrawled on a page ripped from an observer’s notebook. Armstrong read it and smiled.

         “It’s Slugs. He says, ‘If you miserable sinners are reading this, then I’ve gone west. Don’t spend it all on drink…” His voice tailed off.

         “And what did Bunny say, skipper?”

         Armstrong ripped open the second envelope, unfolding a brand new fiver, which gleamed white in the light as he unfolded it. With it was a blue note and another envelope. He read the note in silence then pocketed the sealed envelope.

         “Well?”

         Armstrong looked up at them. “It’s a letter to his parents. He says in the note to us, ‘Goodbye chaps. Sorry I can’t be with you for the party’…” His voice tailed off.

         A Flight looked around. The envelopes from the lost aircrew usually contained cheerful messages, scrawled in happier times when immortality seemed obvious and life was all a joke. Somehow Bunny’s message seemed solemn, even macabre.

         Armstrong sensed the mood. “I’ll write to his parents tonight and send the letter on.” He raised his glass, gathering his audience.

         “Gentlemen. THE Flight. And absent friends!”

         In the ‘A’ Flight ritual his audience responded “THE Flight! And absent friends!”

         They drank and a dozen glasses crashed against the wall.

         Further down the hut the other flight commanders and the Adjutant looked up at ‘A’ Flight’s noisy ritual send off to its lost airmen.

         Armstrong ran a hand through his hair again. “Come on chaps… let’s have one more for the road. We ain’t flying tomorrow.” Suddenly he laughed. “And I hope you lot have written better messages than those two! Steward – Drinks please!”

         “Why not a boat race?” said a voice.

         “Observers against drivers, airframes?”

         “No contest!”

         “Good idea. Six against…” The voice tailed off

         Roberts, silent up to now, spoke up. “What’s to happen to me, Jack? Now that Jimmy’s gone? I still haven’t got a regular observer…”

         From the other end of the hut the Adjutant looked up.

         “Ah yes, Roberts. We’ve got something for you, my friend. Never mind sitting around feeling sorry for yourself. That was just bad luck with young Cartwright, but don’t blame yourself. Think yourself lucky it wasn’t you. Anyway, the skipper wants you back in the saddle tomorrow. You’re to go up on your own. You’re to take the new chap, Higgins, with you. Put him in the back seat and show him the sights. Any time after 10 a.m. So don’t go overboard tonight.”

         “But Higgin’s a pilot, not an observer,” cut in the whisky drinker.

         “New policy, old man. Major Duffus wants all newly joined aircrew to be given a couple of familiarisation trips in clear daylight before being attached to an operational flight. Steer clear of trouble. Just sightseeing. Young Roberts here could do with the practice and he’s waiting for a new observer. Just the man.”

         “I say,” said a voice, “Now that’s my kind of flying. Joy rides round the Salient. Trips round the bay, half a crown a time. No Huns. Cushy number, what? You can swap duties with me, Robbie, any time.”

         A cushion sailed through the air. Roberts stood up. Were they ragging him? “Where do I go? Sir,’ he added uncertainly.

         Coachman smiled at the younger man. ‘Don’t call me “Sir”, in the mess, Roberts. Save that for the squadron commander. We’re a friendly squadron. Not like some. Briefing in the morning. Find Higgins and you can both report to me at ten ack emma. But no risks, no tangling with Brother Boche. Stay strictly behind our lines. Brigade wants every new aircrew to be given the chance to learn the ropes.”

         “Good scheme,” said a voice. “I’m all for it.”

         “I’m so glad you approve,” purred the Adjutant, with heavy sarcasm. “The CO will be delighted by A Flight’s unstinting support. And do try not to crash your machine, Roberts, like some of these ham-fisted hooligans you’re drinking with. When the Hun push comes, we’re going to need every pilot and every observer, believe you me. Goodnight, Gentlemen.”

         Shaking his head, Captain Peter Coachman, ‘Cauchemar’ – ‘Nightmare’ - to his young pilots, stumped off to his endless work, leaving ‘A’ Flight to mourn its dead.

         
            * * *

         

         The ‘Hun Push’ was absorbing the attention of more than 25 Squadron’s rowdy young airmen and the German High Command.

         As a frozen January drifted into an even colder February, an anxious group scraped noisy chairs to sit round a polished table at Montreuil, not twenty miles from Roberts as he clambered heavily into the DH4 to show Higgins the ropes.

         It was a cold, clear day. The wind had died down and clouds and bright winter sunlight alternated. It was very cold. As the DH4 swung into the wind, the speaker at the far-away Montreuil meeting looked down the gleaming table. The cold light outside was reflected off the mirrors on the walls.

         The Intelligence Staff of General Headquarters, British Expeditionary Forces France & Belgium were meeting in the Blue Mirror room of the BEF headquarters to discuss the ‘Big Push’.

         The man at the end of the table was a tall, pink-faced officer with thinning hair. The scarlet tabs on his collar and the two stars and a crown on his shoulders proclaimed him a colonel on the British General Staff. He was a worried man.

         For weeks now his staff had been bringing him daily reports of German troop movements. All were in one direction. As the Colonel Int 1(A) of the British Expeditionary Force GHQ stood at his map every day he was watching an inexorable draining of German divisions from east to west. It was an alarming pattern. From Luxembourg in the South to Ostend in the North, reports had flooded in of new German units identified settling in on the Western Front. And as the little black pins proliferated on his wall map, it became ominously clear that most of them were clustering in the North, facing the British Expeditionary Force.

         There could be no doubt for Colonel Jeremy Mackenzie and the staff of Int 1(A). The BEF was to be the Huns’ next target. The only question was, when?

         “So, we’re all agreed, then?”

         The men round the table nodded. Everyone knew what they were seeing; and everyone knew what it meant. Over the past three months, the intelligence staff of GHQ had watched with growing concern as the cards were slowly stacked up on the table against them.

         It was a constant struggle for the Int Staff.

         A sceptical operations staff and a stubborn commander in chief had not paid much attention at first to Int’s warnings. They never did. Officers had even been prevented from briefing the C-in-C the previous summer. “We don’t want to upset the Chief,” Charteris, the Brigadier General, responsible for Intelligence, had murmured to an officer on one occasion the previous autumn, taking the damning file from his concerned subordinate.

         “But, Sir!” an anxious Captain James Marshall-Cornwall had exclaimed, “We can’t not warn the Commander in Chief.”

         “My dear boy,” said Charteris, smoothly, “you don’t understand the sort of pressures the Chief is under. We don’t need to worry him with these kinds of details. He’s got enough on his plate at the moment.”

         And with that, Brigadier General John Charteris had locked the report of the real German losses in Flanders firmly in his desk drawer, leaving another 100,000 men to die, or be maimed, in the mud around Ypres, as the slaughter of Passchendaele went on for another three months.

         Now Charteris had long gone.

         Like some ghost at the feast, he was still seen dining occasionally in the senior officer’s mess at Montreuil, but his post was now some non-job, an ill-defined liaison officer with the Transport Directorate. Intelligence was now firmly in the hands of Brigadier General Edgar Cox, and the door marked “Secret - No Admittance” securely bolted against its former leader. Rumour had it that Charteris had gone because the politicians were angry about Passchendaele. There were even stories that the Prime Minister, Lloyd George, had tried to get rid of the C-in-C, Sir Douglas Haig himself, but, thwarted, had had to settle for lesser scalps.

         Looking round the table, Mackenzie knew that his junior staff were only too aware of the political machinations and in-fighting swirling around the court of GHQ. His problem was to ensure that G (Int) brought the Holy Grail of Intelligence to the C-in-C of the BEF, and as soon as possible: just where would the Germans attack? And, more importantly, exactly when?

         Failure to get the right answer would not only mean that Mackenzie would lose his job overnight; it would also mean that thousands of British soldiers would lose their lives as they were caught by surprise.

         “Well, gentlemen, we have a clear task,” be began. “The Commander in Chief called me to his office with the Chief of Staff this morning, as you know.”

         He cleared his throat – this was a difficult area.

         “He now accepts – completely – G Int’s thesis that the Huns are going to come for us as, the BEF, soon as they are ready.”

         Glances were exchanged round the table.

         Everyone round the table knew only too well that Mackenzie had been arguing for nearly a month about the inevitability of a German spring offensive against the BEF. Equally they knew that G (Ops) had refused to accept G Int’s warnings and were even rumoured to be planning some daft new push of their own. Even when they had accepted Int’s warnings, the Operations staff had shrugged them off.

         “So what?” ran Operations’ reply in a hundred memoranda and meetings. “If we and the French haven’t been able to break through in three years, why should the Germans suddenly solve the problem? It isn’t as if the Germans have got some magic wand to solve the problems of trench warfare. They don’t even have tanks.”

         There was some truth in this. The rules were the same for both sides.

         The only way to break through the defensive trench lines was to have a massive bombardment that went on for days. That lost surprise; so even where you got into the enemy’s shattered trenches, fresh reserves would always be waiting to seal off the breach and to counter-attack. Trench warfare was as formal and inevitable as a deadly quadrille.

         The only thing that might work was tanks, as Byng and his 3rd Army had proved at Cambrai three months before. But the Germans hadn’t got any tanks to break through, and even at Cambrai, after four days, the Germans had smashed the British back in the inevitable counter-attack. So even that was out. Breakthrough was impossible.

         Operations agreed with their dour and stubborn C-in-C. The only way to win the war now was attrition: attrition to wear down the Germans and win the numbers game until the hundreds of thousands of new American reinforcements arrived. Killing the Germans was the policy; and if the Germans wanted to attack, well, more fool them. Everyone knew that the attackers always suffered more casualties. You only had to look at Loos, the Somme and Passchendaele. As Lloyd of G Ops had so succinctly put it at the last GHQ Staff meeting, “Mac, if the Hun is stupid enough to attack, it’ll only bring about a quicker collapse. Q.E.D., eh?”

         Mackenzie wasn’t so sure.

         Disturbing reports were reaching him of hurricane bombardments on the Eastern Front; new German units, trained in “special tactics”, whatever they were. German prisoners reported a rise in morale, better rations, new weapons. Above all, the G Int map showed more and more infantry divisions, more and more artillery batteries.

         “So the question the C-in-C wants answering is: where will the Hun attack? In what strength? And, most important for the Chief, exactly when?” Mackenzie looked down the two rows of faces.

         “That’s our task, gentlemen. We need answers, and quickly. It’s now the second of February. There were 160 German divisions in the line this morning and 30 more on the move. I don’t have to tell you about our problems. Fifth Army are to take over another twenty miles of French trenches, south of Peronne next week…” A ripple ran round the table. “I know,” went on Mackenzie, “our gallant allies are still sorting themselves out.”

         A few smiles greeted this. ‘Our gallant Allies’ had become a GHQ shorthand for ‘our incompetent French colleagues who refuse to fight…’ Every officer round the table knew that the French Army had mutinied the previous summer and were still refusing to attack, only manning defensive trenches. It was the biggest secret in France.

         “You mean, they’re still workin’ to rule, Colonel? Like the dockers and miners back home?” a languid cavalry voice floated up the table. Laughter greeted this sally.

         “Well, yes, you could say that. But it’s their country that’s been invaded, and they did hold the ring for us to get ready for over two years, so I’m not too hard on the Frenchies.” Mackenzie looked down, re-arranged his pens. “We can’t be too careful ourselves. That Etaples nonsense proves it ain’t just the French, y’know.”

         The group stirred uncomfortably. The ‘Great Etaples Mutiny’ of September 1917 had shaken the BEF to its core. Thousands of bored and angry soldiers had rampaged through the coastal bases at Etaples and le Touquet, refusing to soldier and forcing the Base Depot Commander to call in loyal troops to quell the disturbances. After a week of trouble it had all simmered down. The Base Commander had been quietly posted and the troops in the base camps hastily despatched back to their regiments at the Front; but it had been an ugly couple of weeks last September.

         “What are these French trenches like?” said the cavalry voice. “I mean, are they good positions?”

         “No,” said Mackenzie. “Gough’s people tell me that there’s only one line of trenches and it’ll take weeks of work to bring them up to standard. Fifth Army are going to have their work cut out, gentlemen…”

         More glances were exchanged. Of all the British Armies in France, Sir Hubert Gough’s headquarters staff was known to be the slackest, with sloppy staff work and a casual attitude to detail.

         “Fifth Army must get on with it,” said Mackenzie, “bad trenches or not. Our problem is to find out what the Hun is up to.” He stood up and went over to a blanket-covered blackboard on an easel. Throwing the blanket back he pointed to a list.

         “Here are our sources of intelligence. You all know them. And here,” he stabbed at a second column, “are the best answers we can expect.”

         The group stared at the blackboard. Someone started writing on a pad.

         “Now, here are our traditional sources. First, photo recce and arty observation. Aeroplanes and pictures. Second, there’s the Secret Service. They’re getting better and better agents’ reports; not always accurate, sometimes late, but good – provided the Belgians don’t eat the carrier pigeons. Third, the railway reporting system. Solid, accurate and well able to be checked.”

         He gestured at the blackboard. “What this tells us is how many divisions Jerry had and, pretty well, where they are. What it doesn’t tell us is when he’s going to attack, and exactly where.” He banged the blackboard. “That’s our real problem, gentlemen.”

         “What about prisoners, Colonel? Surely they can help?”

         “Yes, of course. But Brother Hun isn’t even telling his own chaps. We got two good prisoners last week, south of Arras. One was an Alsatian and spoke French better than German, acording to the interrogator. Wanted to talk. No, they sang like canaries, thanks to James and his people. But not a word of any help to us. Oh yes, there’s going to be an attack, but of when, not a word. The fact is, even they don’t know.”

         Down the end of the table the two captains were whispering. “Excuse me, Sir,” said one. “What about the telephone tapping? Wireless? Are R.E. Signals picking up any hints?”

         Mackenzie shook his head. “’Fraid not, Teddy. Not a whisper from the Engineers. Lots of background stuff, but nothing on dates.”

         “It’s really intentions,” the sharp cavalry voice brayed. “What you’re looking for, Colonel, is the Hun’s intentions. We know what they’ve got and where they are, but we don’t know what they’re going to do. Ain’t that it?”

         Mackenzie smiled. Captain Sir Robert Purfitt, Baronet, of the Dragoon Guards might pretend to be an ass sometimes, but he was far from stupid, however hard he tried to hide his undoubted brains from his fellow cavalry officers.

         “Exactly, Bobby. That’s our real problem. The Hun’s intentions.”

         “But that’s really Secret Service stuff, surely?” said an earnest Sapper Captain. “Can’t they tell us?”

         The cavalry voice brayed again. “Ask ’em. Can’t do any harm. After all, they’re supposed to be on our side, too.”

         Bobby Purfitt’s sally was greeted with laughter. Even Mackenzie grinned.

         “Well, yes, strictly speaking you’re right, Bobby. But do I have to draw your attention to the fact that our esteemed Secret Service couldn’t even be bothered to attend this meeting? They really are a bit of a law unto themselves.”

         “Squeeze them, Colonel,” growled a blue-jawed major sitting on Mackenzie’s right. Major Horace Cuffe DSO, was head of the Order of Battle office. His dislike of the Germans was closely followed by is dislike of the “funnies”, as the Secret Service in France and Belgium was known.

         “Squeeze ‘em,” he repeated. “After all, they can hardly refuse to help in the present situation, can they?”

         Mackenzie grimaced.

         “Horace, you’re absolutely right. But I can’t force them. We can only ask nicely. And they’re not helping. Everything they get goes straight back to London. When we see it – if we see it – it’s usually three weeks old, or more sometimes. They don’t even answer to the Brigadier General, and if we put too much pressure on them, they just go running to the Chief of Staff, or even worse, to London, saying we’re being difficult. Frankly, there’s not a lot I can do with Special Int.”

         “They may be able to help in another way.” The voice came from halfway down the table. The speaker was a shortish, square-faced young major who had been silent up to now.

         Captain, acting-Major, James Marshall-Cornwall, DSO, MC, was one of the longest serving officers in G-Int. Speaking five languages and “out since 1914” he had applied to go back to his regiment on numerous occasions. But his services to the BEF Intelligence Staff were too important to be left to the Royal Regiment of Artillery and the hazards of the front line with its unpredictable shells and bullets. So Marshall- Cornwall stayed firmly in GHQ Int, chafing at the lack of action, but the most experienced and respected officer on the int staff.

         “Go on, James.”

         “Well, there are TWO secret services, correct? That funny bureau in London and our own GHQ set-up out here. As I understand it, the arrangement now is that Cumming’s Secret Service lot in London do all the high level foreign stuff with the War Office, but GHQ out here has a responsibility for the stuff from the occupied zones in France and Belgium. That’s what I understand.”

         He went on, “Well, if you look at the fine print of the Kirke agreement, it says that our own GHQ Secret Service is responsible for all special operations in the German occupied zones, too. Special operations,” he emphasised.

         Marshall-Cornwall had the whole table’s attention.

         “So?”

         “So, why don’t we task them to run some of these mythical ‘special operations’ for us? After all, they’re supposed to be supporting the BEF. Not London”

         Mackenzie shook his head. “Good idea, James; but since Cameron’s gone they’re even more uncooperative. Who’s going to order them?”

         Two weeks before, in a messy shake up, Colonel Cameron, the head of GHQ ‘Special Intelligence’ had been sacked in a welter of recriminations, after Cumming’s Secret Service in London, the War Office, and the Allied Intelligence Liaison Office at Folkestone had finally ganged up to remove the stubborn and secretive head of Secret Services in the BEF.

         The order from London still rankled in the more secret corridors of GHQ.

         “The Chief. The Chief ’ll order them all right.” Horace Cuffe looked up at Mackenzie. “Quote the C-in-C, Colonel.” A rumble of assent greeted his words.

         “Colonel, he’s right.” Bobby Purfitt was leaning forward down the table. “If Haig demands action, even Special Int can’t say no. They’ll have to chip in and help. If they don’t, they’re finished.”

         “Bobby’s right,” added Marshall-Cornwall, “But collection isn’t just my point. Of course we need information. Spies, pigeons, burglaries, whatever,” he waved a dismissive hand. “That’ll give us intentions. But what I’m suggesting is something else: disruption. Real special operations behind the Hun lines to slow him down. Attack behind their lines. Choke off the blood supply. Maybe even stop any offensive before it gets going.”

         Marshall-Cornwall had the meeting again.

         “What are you suggesting, James? Mass sabotage? The Huns will take terrible reprisals against the civilians. We’d never get the Chief to agree to that.”

         Heads nodded round the table. The German policy of schrechlichkeit – literally “frightfulness” – in the occupied territories was savage. Just before Christmas, two Belgians had been shot near Mons for the crime of possessing carrier pigeons; and only last week at Lille, ten Frenchmen had been executed as a reprisal for the murder of two German officers.

         Marshall-Cornwall persisted. “No, no, I don’t mean that. Not big stuff. What I’m suggesting is something much more precise.” He looked up at the puzzled faces round the table. “What would be the effect if the big German Headquarters was blown up? With its entire staff? Or even Rupprecht’s HQ – at a key moment just before the big attack?”

         There was a long silence, broken only by the distant buzzing of a far off aeroplane.

         Cuffe broke the silence. “Are you suggesting some kind of bombing, James?”

         “Yes, exactly.” Marshall-Cornwall waved a hand at the Chateau windows where the aeroplane noise was getting louder. “Imagine that’s a Hun. Think what one well-placed big bomb, here in this building now, would do.” His listeners stirred uneasily.

         “Steady on, old man,” a gunner captain said. “Why, that would be assassination, murder, surely?”

         Marshall-Cornwall rounded on the speaker. “Murder? When over 300 men are being killed or wounded on average every day in the BEF. Dammit, this is a war we’re fighting, not a game of cricket! What is all this if it’s not just organised killing on a grand scale?”

         Mackenzie intervened hastily. “I see your point, James. So what you’re suggesting is disrupt the attack by killing their key generals?”

         “At the right moment, yes.”

         Eyebrows went up round the table. “Pretty unorthodox, what?” said a voice.

         The gunner captain scowled. “Why not go the whole hog, then? Why don’t you just try and kill Hindenburg and Ludendorff,” he added sarcastically. “That should fix it.” A few laughs greeted this. Emboldened, the gunner went on, looking round for support: “Hang it all, why not just kill the Kaiser and be done with it, eh? That should win the war!” The laughter grew louder. Two spots burned on Marshall Cornwall’s cheeks.

         Bobby Purfitt broke into the guffaws. “And why not?” The room fell silent. “Why not?” he repeated. “After all, he’s the chap responsible for this whole stinkin’ mess, ain’t he? It’s the Kaiser what started it.”

         The cavalry officer stared round the room.

         “I agree with Marshall-Cornwall. If we can, why not try and kill a few generals? And the Kaiser too. If that saves lives and helps us to win this beastly war, then I’m all for it. And I’ll wager the fellows fighting at the Front would agree with us, eh?”

         A silence greeted this intervention. Traditionally, generals did not war on generals. Deep in the psyche of the fourteen men round the table was the notion of ‘fair play’, playing the game, fighting fair. To a group of men raised on the English public school tenets of muscular Christianity, blowing up unprotected headquarters behind the lines seemed underhand: somehow both fanciful and ungentlemanly.

         The gunner captain voiced the thought. “I can’t see the Chief approving any plan to murder the Kaiser …” He paused, then saw a trump card. “Hang it all, if we do things like this, what’s to stop the Huns then pooping off at the King?”

         Mackenzie stepped forward to stop the debate, but Purfitt was too quick. “Nothing at all,” he said. “And if they could, I’ll wager the Huns wouldn’t hesitate for a moment to kill the King, if they thought it would help them to win the war. Their Zeppelins are bombin’ London ain’t they? But it isn’t in their interest. But Generals and HQs, well they’re fair targets, surely? Didn’t we bag a couple of divisional HQs at Cambrai, generals and all?”

         The meeting absorbed this truth. In the great tank raid at Cambrai the previous November, nearly 400 British tanks had scrunched through the German wire, taking the enemy completely by surprise. For a few glorious hours, British cavalry and light tanks had run amok behind the German front lines, shooting up horse lines, artillery batteries, and even two divisional HQs. It had been a triumph until the Germans counter attacked and sent the Byng’s men scuttling back to their own front lines. But there was no denying that German generals and their staff had been killed or captured.

         In the silence that followed, the droning of the aeroplane outside grew more insistent. Mackenzie cleared his throat.

         “So what you’re suggesting is that we not only ask GHQ Secret Services to step up their collection service to the C-in-C out here, but also to pinpoint the key enemy headquarters for any attack and … and kill them? Put a bomb under them?”

         “Pretty well,” Marshall-Cornwall nodded.

         The Gunner captain returned to his argument. “But how? With those?” He waved a hand at the buzzing of the invisible aeroplane. “They couldn’t blow up a whole HQ. They might kill a few chaps and frighten the horses, but you’re not going to stop a Hun offensive with a few kites sprinkling 25lb Cooper bombs from the air.”

         “That’s true. But there are plenty of other ways of planting a bomb.”

         The whole table looked aghast at Marshall-Cornwall, and the Gunner captain said triumphantly, “Ah-ha! So you do mean murder, then!”

         Purfitt rolled his eyes at Mackenzie. “Of course we don’t mean murder. But going for the enemy’s commander is as legitimate an act of civilised warfare as any other combatant.” Mackenzie was acutely conscious of the irony of Purfitt’s phrase “civilised warfare”.

         “You mean it would be legal under the Hague Convention, Bobby?”

         “Exactly, Colonel,” said a grateful Purfitt. It’s a legitimate act of war. And if it works it could even end the war. That’s worth a shot, surely? Winning the war?”

         “Well,” said Cuffe, “then I, for one, would recommend it. It’s a bit unorthodox, but a sound scheme. Anything that helps end this bloody war gets my vote!”

         Reluctant nods followed round the table. A flat northern voice came from the end as the most junior officer present spoke up. “Well I don’t see anything wrong in trying to bump off Germans, however exalted they are. After all, is there a war on or not?”

         Several faces turned to the speaker and tut-tutted.

         Mackenzie tried to suppress a smile. Charles Powell, Cuffe’s junior staff offficer was not a regular soldier and sometimes it showed. Undeterred, Lt Powell went on, appealing for support round the room. “Well coom on; are we trying to win this war or not? I can’t think of anything better than knockin’ off a few generals… I can think of a few generals I’d like to bump off for a start. And they’re not all German either.” A mixture of shock and hilarity rippled round his audience. “If it gets us all home sooner, I’m for it. A top secret job to shoot a few senior officers and end the war. Great scheme.”

         Bobby Purfitt clapped his hands in silent applause. Lt Powell stared defiantly round the table. “Anyway, that’s what I think.”

         Mackenzie’s smile was now unconstrained as he shook his head. “I think you’ve summed it up beautifully, Charles. A secret operation to neutralise the German High Command.” He looked round the table. Most heads nodded, although the gunner captain who had argued against Bobby Purfitt looked down and refused to catch his eye.

         “A secret operation it is then. Now, any more ideas…?”

         Down the table the two captains were whispering.

         “Excuse me, Sir…”

         “Yes?” said Mackenzie.

         “Surely if we’re going to do something really secret like this, then nobody ought to know about it? Apart from those who need to.”

         “Quite right. Let’s close this particular subject now. I think we have quite enough ideas to be going on with. I’ll brief the Chief. Now let’s look at some of the other ways we might be able to make an impact…”

         
            * * *

         

         Two thousand feet above the meeting, Roberts gently banked his DH4 and headed back for St Omer.

         “So that’s GHQ – Montreuil. Quite a good landmark really. Walled town and so on. Easy to recognise.” He was shouting down a lashed up speaking sysytem, comprising a petrol-filling funnel connected by a rubber tube to the metal tube linking pilot and observer. In the rear, the new boy, Higgins, was listening intently through the improvised voice pipe, picking out Roberts’ words above the bellow of the engine.

         “If you see Montreuil,” went on Roberts, “You’re too far west – unless you’re going back to Blighty.”

         Higgins glanced over his left shoulder at the coast of England, tantalisingly close from 2,000 feet. Boulogne drifted below the left wing, Napoleon on his column staring hopelessly across the Channel.

         “What’s at GHQ?”

         “Oh, not much. Bunch of red tabs, lots of talk. Bin there once on a binge when I first came out.” My God, he thought… that was only six weeks ago. He felt quite the old soldier in front of Higgins. “Saw the C-in-C drive by… at least someone said it was Haig. We all had to stand up. Lots of cafés and restaurants. Some of ‘em reserved for senior officers only. A bit stuffy, really. Bit of a waste of time, Montreuil …”

         And having delivered his considered opinion of General Headquarters, British Expeditionary Force, Second Lieutenant Roberts, Royal Flying Corps, banked to his right, south east for St Omer and a late lunch. Little did he know that he just flown over the birth of an idea that would have momentous consequences.
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